1982

# Rodney L. Phillips v. JCM Development Corp et al : Brief on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff against the defendant, United Farm Agency, Inc., a Utah corporation, for damages arising out of a real estate transaction.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable Boyd Bunnell on the 29th and 30th day of July, 1981. The Court granted judgment in favor of the plaintiff on July 30, 1981, against all of the defendants and took under advisement the amount of the damages suffered by the plaintiff. On September 4, 1981, the Court filed its Memorandum Decision (R. 213-215), and on October 14, 1981, the Court signed and filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment (R. 232-243).

The defendant, United Farm Agency, filed its Motion for a New Trial which was denied by the Court by its Order filed Decem-



ber 24, 1981 (R. 285). The notice of appeal was filed on January 8, 1982 (R. 304).

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant requests that this Court reverse the lower court's decision or in the alternative, remand the case for further hearing.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff Rodney Phillips operated, as a sole proprietorship, a construction company known as Phillips Construction Company from 1970 to the first part of 1978. During the first of 1978 and before the transactions that precipitated this action (Tr. 242-43), the plaintiff formed a corporation known as Phillips Construction Company (Tr. 131-32). After the formation of the corporation, all of the business and business assets were owned by the corporation, with the exception of the equipment of which Mr. Phillips retained personal ownership (Tr. 132).

During 1978, the plaintiff went through a divorce (Tr. 135) and was facing substantial financial difficulty in that his checks were bouncing (Tr. 287-88). Accordingly on January 25, 1978, the plaintiff listed his home and construction business for sale with the defendant Robert Anderson, a real estate agent (Ex. 6, Tr. 14). At a later time, a separate listing was made for the construction business alone which listed the selling price of \$200,000 (Tr. 14-15). None of the listings were signed by Clan Stilson or a person in authority for United Farm. Mr. Phillips communicated to the real estate agent that the business had grossed over a million dollars during the last year and that the business had a

waiting list for new construction (Ex. 8), although the records of the business did not reflect any of those representations (Ex. 43, 44, 45 and 46). On June 13, 1978, two additional listings were signed by the plaintiff on the shop and business lowering the price to \$185,000 in an attempt to expedite the sale of the business (Tr. 27-28, Ex. 14, 15).

Mr. Gerald (Bud) Stocks introduced the defendants, James Gleason and James McGarry to Mr. Anderson as persons who were interested in buying Phillips Construction Company (Tr. 37, 343-45). On July 17, 1978, James C. McGarry, James Gleason, Bud Stocks and Robert Anderson met Rodney Phillips on the site of one of Phillips's jobs to discuss the possible sale of the business (Tr. 38, 136). At that time, Gerald (Bud) Stocks was introduced as a referring real estate agent from First Realty Group, Mr. McGarry as president of JCM Development Company and James Gleason as an associate of McGarry's and agent of J. G. Realty (Tr. 136-37, 341-42, 38-39). The afternoon of July 17, 1978, was spent looking at some of the corporation's jobs and equipment, meeting employees and reviewing some of the documents relating to the business operation of the construction company (Tr. 40-41, 137-38, 142, 344-45).

On July 18, 1978, the parties met mid-morning and went to the construction company's office. The parties reviewed documents, looked at equipment and engaged in discussion relative to a possible sale (Tr. 41-43, 143-44). During the late afternoon or evening of July 18, 1978, Bob Anderson, James McGarry, James Gleason and Rodney Phillips met at Mr. Anderson's office (Tr. 43, 143).

There is a dispute in the evidence as to the extent of Larry Anderson's involvement in the meeting, but Rodney Phillips, acting for the corporation, James McGarry for JCM Development Company and James Gleason for J. G. Realty came to terms and signed an earnest money agreement: A check for \$5,000.00 was presented to the plaintiff, but no closing date was set (Ex. 18, Tr. 43, 50-51, 144-45).

After the plaintiff Phillips had met with McGarry and Gleason, the defendant Robert Anderson, learned that the parties were going to complete the sale by means of a simple stock transfer and a bill of sale (Tr. 43). Mr. Anderson advised the plaintiff that the transaction should not be handled that way and commented that the Bulk Sales Act would not be complied with and that other essential elements of a typical sale were being omitted (Tr. 43-45, 49). The defendant Anderson testified that after he had protested the manner in which the transaction was being handled, Mr. Gleason stated that Mr. Anderson should let Gleason handle the transaction and accordingly the earnest money was written on Mr. Gleason's forms (Tr. 45, 47, 48). Mr. Anderson did not see the signed earnest money until almost a month later (Tr. 52), and assumed that the plaintiff knew that he was not representing him because Phillips signed an agreement against Anderson's advise on another real estate company's forms (Tr. 53). The Court found that Anderson never expressly advised the plaintiff that he was no longer representing Phillips (R. 234, Findings No. 13).

Contemporaneous to the time of the transaction that he was negotiating for the plaintiff with McGarry, Gleason and JCM Development Company, the defendant, Robert Anderson, had been

requested to sell 20 acres of his land in Spanish Valley to McGarry, Gleason and JCM Development Company and to help in the development of other property (Tr. 37, 38). At the time of the negotiation, Robert Anderson was behind on his \$1,000.00 payments to First Security Bank on the Spanish Valley property (Tr. 32-33). On July 18, 1978, Anderson signed an earnest money with J. G. Realty and JCM Development Company for the purchase of his 20 acres (Ex. 19, Tr. 55, 56). Anderson testified that the plaintiff knew of the transaction because he told him and because Phillips was asked to do work on the subdivision property by Skipper Resources (R. 59). In fact, the plaintiff admitted at trial that he knew about the development (Tr. 155, 156).

In addition, Anderson was negotiating to obtain exclusive listings on the lots that would be developed on the land he had sold to JCM Development and the surrounding acreage that was to be developed into a mobile home subdivision (Tr. 60-62), by JCM Development, McGarry and Gleason. McGarry and Gleason intended to use Phillips Construction Company to construct the development (Tr. 65-66).

The plaintiff contended that the defendant Anderson represented to him on several occasions that JCM Development Company was worth millions of dollars (Tr. 153, 154), but Anderson testified that he reported only what Gleason and McGarry had told him (Tr. 67-68). Obviously Anderson would not have dealt with the other defendants personally, if he knew of any financial problems or financial risk.

The parties continued their preparation for closing and on



August 14, 1978, the plaintiff met with James McGarry, James Gleason and Robert Anderson (Tr. 161). Calculations and computations were made by the parties, and adjustments to the inventory were made. The accounts receivable and payable were adjusted by the plaintiff and the defendants McGarry and Gleason (Tr. 161-62). The earnest money had provided for a Forty Thousand Dollar (\$40,000.00) down payment which, at the meeting of August 14th, was converted to a Thirty-five Thousand Dollar (\$35,000.00) promissory note, signed by JCM Development Corporation which together with the Five Thousand Dollar (\$5,000.00) down payment totaled Forty Thousand Dollars (\$40,000.00) (Tr. 162-63, Ex. 24). The remainder of the plaintiff's equity was evidenced by another promissory note in the amount of Forty-four Thousand Dollars (\$44,000.00), payable over a period of years, signed again by JCM Development Corporation (Tr. 163, Ex. 25).

In addition to the two promissory notes, the plaintiff, on behalf of the corporation, signed warranty deeds, stock transfer papers and other related documents transferring all of his interest in the corporation to the defendant, JCM Development (Tr. 163-165). The plaintiff testified that the signing of the documents took over two hours (Tr. 163). Robert Anderson testified that he typed some of the documents and compiled information as requested by the various parties (Tr. 82-83). Robert Anderson testified that he didn't think he was conducting a closing in that United Farm's policy required that a closing through their agency be done by the broker or through an attorney, neither of which occurred in this case (Tr. 29).

The plaintiff testified that he relied on certain representations of the defendant, Anderson, as to the financial solvency of the defendants in accepting the promissory notes without security (Tr. 164-165). The defendant, Robert Anderson, denied making any such representations and stated that he had communicated only what had been communicated to him by McGarry and Gleason (Tr. 74, 88-89).

After the execution of the documents on August 14, 1978, the promissory notes signed by these defendants were not paid.

There was no evidence at trial to directly connect the defendant, United Farm Agency or the broker Clan Stilson to this transaction. The only liability of United Farm Agency and Clan Stilson is derivative. No one acting in the furtherance of United Farm's interest participated in the transaction. Additionally United Farm never received any monetary benefit or any portion of a commission from the sale.

#### POINT I

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE INTRODUCED  
AT TRIAL TO BASE A VERDICT AGAINST THE  
DEFENDANT, UNITED FARM AGENCY, INC., A  
UTAH CORPORATION.

In the Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Court found that the defendant, Robert Anderson, breached his fiduciary duty to the plaintiff (1) by by unilaterally deciding not to further represent the plaintiff in the sale of his property and by not advising the plaintiff of said decision (Findings No. 25, R. 236); (2) by failing to discharge his duty to verify the solvency of JCM Development and by representing the worth of JCM to the plaintiff (Findings No. 26, R. 237); (3) by failing to discharge his duty, imposed by United Farm Agency

policy, to see that an attorney conduct the plaintiff's closing (Findings No. 27, R. 237); (4) by preparing unsecured notes and allowing the plaintiff to accept said notes and to part with his assets (Findings No. 28, R. 237); and, (5) by failing to investigate J. G. Realty and assuring the plaintiff of J. G. Realty's legitimacy (Findings No. 29, R. 237).

The evidence in this case, simply does not support the imputation of Robert Anderson's liability to the broker, Clan Stilson, or to United Farm Agency, a Utah corporation. The only proof elicited regarding the issue of agency or employment was done during the examination of Robert Anderson. Mr. Anderson testified that he was a sales representative for United Farm Agency of Utah and that his duties included responsibilities for the listing and selling of property (Tr. 4). Further, Robert Anderson testified that he was a real estate agent, having been licensed in the state of Utah since 1975 and that Mr. Clan Stilson was the broker for United Farm Agency in the State of Utah (Tr. 5-6).

When specifically asked what role Clan Stilson played in the transaction which precipitated this lawsuit, Mr. Anderson testified that Mr. Stilson had no involvement and further testified that United Farm Agency policy required its salespersons to obtain approval of the broker for preliminary matters and that United Farm Agency required the involvement of a broker or attorney to handle the closing. He further testified that on prior occasions, Mr. Snow, the attorney in Moab, acted as the person who handled the closing and that particularly, in other

transactions in which Mr. Phillips had been involved, Mr. Snow was the person who prepared the documents and supervised the closing transaction (R. 122-123).

In this case, the listing of the business was evidenced by Business and Income Exclusive Listing Agreements of United Farm Agency (Ex. 6, 14, 15). After the signing of the listing agreements, United Farm Agency, a Utah corporation nor its broker, Clan Stilson, had any involvement with any of the remainder of the transaction. Particularly, the earnest money agreement signed in this action was not a United Farm Agency document (Ex. 18), and the parties understood that to be the case (Tr. 45, 145-147). No attorney or broker for United Farm Agency participated in or became involved in the Phillips-JCM Development transaction or closing. There were no sellers' or buyers' statements furnished by United Farm Agency as required by their policies and procedures. Simply put, if the Court adopts the entered findings of the trial court, the transaction and the exchange of documents that occurred on August 14, 1978, were in complete violation of the United Farm Agency policies and practices as established by the plaintiff in his case.

The relationship of broker and real estate salesman is defined in the State of Utah by legislative enactment. Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, §61-2-1 et seq., sets forth the relationship of agent and broker as it pertains to the sale of real estate in the State of Utah. The term "real estate salesman," is defined to include:

. . . any person employed or engaged  
by or on behalf of a licensed real



broker to do or to deal in any act or transaction set out or comprehended by the definition of a real estate broker in §61-2-2 for compensation or otherwise. (Emphasis added.)

Utah Code Annotated §61-2-3, 1953, as amended.

Utah Code Annotated §61-2-20, 1953, as amended, sets forth the specific rights and duties of a real estate salesman as follows:

It is expressly provided that a real estate salesman shall have the right to fill out and complete an earnest money receipt and agreement in form to be approved by the commission and forms provided by statute and that a real estate broker shall have the right to fill out and complete forms of legal documents necessary to any real estate transaction to which the said broker is a party as principle or agent, and which forms have been approved by the commission and Attorney General of the State of Utah. Such forms shall include a closing real estate contract, a short-form lease, and a bill of sale of personal property.

In fact, on all of the United Farm Agency earnest money agreements and even as indicated on Exhibit 18, introduced at trial, there is a space provided on Line 44 for the broker of the real estate company to sign, evidencing his review of the document. In this case, neither the broker for United Farm Agency, Clan Stilson, nor any other agent or employee of United Farm Agency, a Utah corporation, endorsed Exhibit 18 or any of the other documents exchanged between the parties. The closing was not supervised by the broker for United Farm Agency or by an attorney. The closing documents and the documents evidencing the transaction in this case do not meet the statutory requirements of Utah Code

Annotated §61-2-20 in that there was not a closing real estate contract used in conjunction with a bill of sale for personal property or other closing statements. Needless to say, no real estate documents evidencing the sale were executed on United Farm Agency forms or signed by the broker in charge.

In essence, the only involvement of United Farm Agency, a Utah corporation, is that of the listing agreement. All of the transactions after that point in time were handled by Robert Anderson without complying either with the statutory requirements set out above or with United Farm Agency policy and procedure.

In analyzing the question of when United Farm Agency would be liable for the acts of Robert Anderson, several Utah Supreme Court cases are instructive. The Utah Supreme Court dealt with a similar matter in Wilkerson v. Stevens, 16 Utah 2d 424, 403 P.2d 31 (1965). In that case, the vendor brought an action against a real estate salesman to recover a sum of money received by the salesman as an intermediary in connection with the sale of a house, and against the realty company as an undisclosed principle. The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the realty company and the vendor appealed. In affirming the decision, the Supreme Court, through Justice Crockett, stated the criteria to be applied in analyzing the responsibility of the realty company. The Court noted that since the plaintiff had dealt with the real estate agent on a personal basis and sought to go beyond that agent to hold a third party liable, it was the plaintiff's burden to prove that such a principal and agency

relationship existed. Wilkerson, supra at 32. See also, Cote v. A. J. Bayless Markets, Inc., 128 Az. 438, 626 P.2d 602 (1981); B & D Investment Corp. v. Petticord, 48 Or.App. 345, 617 P.2d 276 (1980) (Further, the cases speaking to that issue have held that there is no presumption of agency and that evidence must be put on by the person who alleges it. Sturm v. Green, 398 P.2d 799 (Okla. 1965); Seattle-First National Bank v. Pacific Bank of Washington, 22 Wash.App. 46, 587 P.2d 617 (1978)).

Justice Crockett in Wilkerson supra, specifically pointed to the fact that there had been prior dealings between the plaintiff and the defendant, Stevens, and that in one such transaction, the real estate agent had agreed to terms other than cash for the payment of his commission. Justice Crockett pointed to the fact that the real estate agent had acted in his own name and that there was no listing agreement with the realty company and that its name did not appear on any document nor was it mentioned in any way. Further, the Court concluded that the plaintiff had not relied upon the agent in connection with the realty company. Justice Crockett stated that inasmuch as the realty company did not receive or claim a commission on the transaction and that it did not participate in any manner or know anything about the transaction until the lawsuit was filed, the realty company ought not to be held responsible for the acts of the agent. Wilkerson, supra at 32-33.

The meaningful differences between the facts in Wilkerson, supra, and the facts of this case are that in this case, there is a listing agreement on a United Farm Agency form, although

the broker's signature does not appear thereon and because there is no undisclosed principle in this case. As in the Wilkerson case, Robert Anderson and the plaintiff had extensive prior dealings. In fact, the plaintiff, in tracing that history of prior dealings between Phillips and Anderson consumed from page 7 of the transcript through page 30. Throughout the transcript, there is reference to prior dealings between Robert Anderson individually with the plaintiff. In accord with the Wilkerson case, there had been a prior instance between Anderson and Phillips in which Anderson did not get a cash commission but simply received office space in a building and in addition, was charged no rent for three months (Tr. 7, 132-33). Further, in accord with the Wilkerson case, the plaintiff, Phillips, testified that his reliance on Robert Anderson came because of his prior experience with him.

The plaintiff testified explicitly as follows:

Bob was-had-he handled all my dealings and I had complete trust with him. He had done a fantastic job closing my home and my motel, and we were doing exactly the same thing. We were putting together the closing papers on this transaction the exact same way we had done with my motel. We went over all these papers and filled them all and then we took them down to Harry Snow, and he finalized it, and I thought that's what we were going to do on this sale and I expected that the same process to take place.

(Tr. 165). Despite the fact of the prior dealings, Harry Snow was never contacted, a closing statement was never made, (Tr. 170), and neither Harry Snow nor the broker for United Farm Agency was ever contacted regarding the case.



The Utah Supreme Court in Wells v. Walker Bank & Trust Co., Inc., 590 P.2d 1261 (Utah 1979), stated this rule again in a case which involved an action by an assignee for the benefit of the creditors of a trust against banks, alleging that the banks had negligently honored "altered" checks drawn on the trust account. In that case, the Court stated the general principles relative to this issue:

Walker Bank urges that the doctrine of respondeat superior is applicable. As is true in other areas of the law, the general rule regarding the liability of a master for such acts of his servant, is that an alteration of a negotiable instrument (or other document) by an agent is, in effect, the act of his principal if such alteration is made within the scope of the express or implied authority of the agent. It is of course to be recognized that if the employee is not so authorized and is acting for his own interest, and not in furtherance of the employer's business, the latter would not be bound by his act. (Emphasis added.)

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