1982

Rodney L. Phillips v. JCM Development Corp et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

(4) United Farm Agency not only participated in the sale of the Plaintiff's business as shown above, but United Farm Agency also participated in the purchase of the Plaintiff's business as well. United Farm Agency and McGarry intended to use the Plaintiff's construction business to develop a mobile home park in which each was to benefit financially.

United Farm Agency and Anderson, by an Earnest Money Agreement dated July 18, 1978, agreed to sell to JCM 20 acres of land located south of Moab for \$100,000.00. The land had been taken by United Farm Agency and Anderson as a commission from a prior sale and each owned an undivided one-half of the property. The 20 acres and surrounding property to be purchased by JCM were to be developed into a mobile home subdivision with United Farm Agency to have the exclusive right to sell over two million dollars in lots for a ten percent commission on sales made (or a potential \$200,000.00). United Farm Agency was also to provide financing for the purchase of the lots. At trial United Farm Agency did not disclaim knowledge of this and could not because a public announcement of its

deal with JCM had appeared in the Moab Times-Independent newspaper (Tr. 60-69).

Immediately after the Plaintiff turned his company over to the crooks the newspaper article had appeared announcing that United Farm Agency would sell and finance the lots at \$12,500.00 each and that Phillips Construction Company, recently purchased by JCM, would be the contractor (T. 64-66, 110). The whole United Farm Agency-JCM deal had hinged upon the purchase by JCM of the Plaintiff's business and this dramatic conflict of interest on the part of United Farm Agency directly contributed to the Plaintiff's loss.

To this point it has been shown that Anderson was clearly acting as agent for United Farm Agency when he caused the Plaintiff's loss and that United Farm Agency clearly was itself participating in the sale and loss of the Plaintiff's business. Despite such clear evidence that United Farm Agency knew or should have known that Anderson was mishandling the Plaintiff's sale (see Wells v. Walker Bank and Trust Co., Utah, 590 P2d 1261 (1979), United Farm Agency, for the first time on appeal, attempts to feign ignorance of Anderson's actions on its behalf. However, in so doing United Farm Agency proves that it is culpable even if it did not know what Anderson was doing. At page 16 of its brief United Farm Agency states:

In fact, aside from setting out its policies and procedures as to how a proper transaction should be handled for United Farm Agency, there was no supervision at all of Anderson's activities and conduct." (Emphasis added.)

This incredible admission establishes in and of itself United Farm Agency's and Clan Stilson's liability for the Plaintiff's loss. Such failure to supervise is per se negligence on the part of United

Farm Agency and Stilson as brokers under Utah law and as such is cause for revocation of their right to sell real estate pursuant to Section 61-2-11(14) of the Utah Code Annotated, which states that a broker's license may be suspended or revoked for "failing to exercise reasonable supervision over the activities of his licensees."

The record overwhelmingly supports the trial court's finding that United Farm Agency and Clan Stilson are liable for the Plaintiff's loss. Anderson was their agent and acted in his entrusted capacity as agent at all times. United Farm Agency itself undertook to represent the Plaintiff when it accepted Anderson's listing of the Plaintiff's business and advertised the Plaintiff's business in its national catalogue. United Farm Agency, as a real estate broker, owed the Plaintiff the obligation to deal with the Plaintiff with high standards of "honesty, integrity, truthfulness, reputation, and competency". Dugan v. Jones, Utah, 615 P2d 1239 (1980); Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, §61-2-6(a). The record is replete with proof that those standards were not met. The only dispute in the record is whether United Farm Agency unilaterally abandoned the Plaintiff without advising him that he was on his own⁴, or whether United Farm Agency, through Anderson, continued to represent the Plaintiff through the time he was defrauded.

⁴In relation to United Farm Agency's claimed unilateral abandonment of the Plaintiff, the Court is referred to Disciplinary Rule 2-110(2), which states that a lawyer shall not withdraw from employment until he has taken reasonable steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to the rights of his client, including giving due notice to his client. A real estate broker should have no less a duty. Dugan v. Jones, supra.

Either way, United Farm breached its contractual, professional, fiduciary, and codified duties to the Plaintiff and the Plaintiff as a result was defrauded of his business.

POINT II

THE PLAINTIFF WAS NEVER PAID FOR OVER
\$185,000.00 IN ASSETS BECAUSE OF UNITED
FARM AGENCY'S NEGLIGENCE AND BREACHES OF
DUTIES

A broker is liable to his principal for all damages which flow naturally from his misconduct and which are a direct consequence thereof. 12 Am Jur 2d, Brokers, §96. The uncontroverted evidence shows that the Plaintiff lost over \$260,000.00 in assets as a result of the misconduct of United Farm. The uncontroverted evidence further shows that he was never paid for over \$185,000.00 worth of assets (R. 236; Findings No. 22-25).

It must be understood that the Plaintiff's company contained over \$200,000.00 in assets exclusive of the Plaintiff's accounts receivable. The construction company, as listed for sale, included only a shop and office building (with storage rental units), all equipment for building construction, franchise, and equipment for metal buildings (Ex. 5, 6, 8, 15; Tr. 13-15, 28). The Plaintiff's accounts receivable were not included in the listings and were not included in the assets listed in the Earnest Money Agreement of July 18, 1978 which contained the \$200,000.00 sales price (Ex. 18).

The Plaintiff testified that about \$125,000.00 in equipment and inventory was sold to JCM. Defendant's Exhibit 45 is a partial inventory and was referred to as a partial inventory in the Earnest Money Agreement (Ex. 18; Tr. 299-301). That partial

inventory listed over \$92,000.00 in assets which were sold. In addition to the items on the inventory, the Plaintiff also sold a 950 cat loader valued at about \$15,000.00 and metal buildings valued at over \$30,000.00 (Tr. 226-227, 301). He also sold his shop building and an additional lot. The shop building alone had been listed at \$70,000.00 (Ex. 14). The combined value of these assets, therefore, equalled, if not exceeded, \$200,000.00 before the Plaintiff's accounts receivable came to be included in the sale on August 14, 1978. At, or before, the closing, the Defendants persuaded the Plaintiff to include his accounts receivable of about \$62,000 into the sale. These were to be "offset" by JCM agreeing to pay over \$30,000.00 in accounts payable owed by the Plaintiff and by JCM agreeing to pay off loans to which certain of the accounts receivable had been pledged (Tr. 305-306, 312, 314-315). The effect of this "offset" was to include over \$60,000.00 additional assets into the sale but to leave the purchase price at \$200,000.00 on paper.

At trial the Plaintiff did not try to recover the full \$260,000.00 plus value of his lost assets since some debts had been paid (a small portion by JCM; a larger portion by proceeds from foreclosure sales) (Tr. 206, 210-211). The Plaintiff instead offered proof to show how much of that value had not been paid. His uncontroverted testimony showed that he had not been paid any part of the \$79,000.00 equity represented by the two notes (\$44,000.00 and \$35,000.00 respectively). His uncontroverted testimony further proved that obligations totaling over \$106,000.00 were not paid by JCM as agreed (R. 236, Findings No. 22-25; Tr. 197-235, 317).

Therefore, the Plaintiff was defrauded of over \$185,000.00 in assets for which he was never paid. The unpaid debts and worthless notes are the measure of the Plaintiff's loss of assets. Points II and III of United Farm Agency's brief do not allege that the Plaintiff was not defrauded or that JCM was not to have paid the debts testified to by the Plaintiff. United Farm Agency's contentions regarding the Statute of Frauds and capacity to sue are red herrings which detract from the fact that the Plaintiff was defrauded because of United Farm Agency's negligence and breaches of fiduciary duties. All of United Farm Agency's contentions are smokescreens to hide the fact that it was negligent when it encouraged the Plaintiff to part with over \$260,000.00 in assets without receiving collateral, a written assumption agreement, a closing statement and other necessary legal protection. Morely v. J. Pagel Realty & Insurance, 27 Ariz. App. 62, 550 P.2d 1104 (1976).

POINT II(A)

THE PLAINTIFF HAD CAPACITY TO SUE BECAUSE HE OWNED THE ASSETS OF WHICH HE WAS DEFRAUDED AND WAS PERSONALLY LIABLE FOR THE DEBTS WHICH WERE ASSUMED BUT NOT PAID. ALSO, THE LAW DOES NOT REQUIRE THAT THE TRUSTEE IN BANKRUPTCY BE SUBSTITUTED AS THE PLAINTIFF IN A PENDING ACTION.

The evidence clearly shows that the Plaintiff had capacity to sue for his damages. It was the Plaintiff who was wronged, not the corporation.

First, all assets sold to JCM were owned by the Plaintiff personally (Tr. 218; Ex. 20, 21, 26, 28, 29).

Second, the obligations which were to be paid by JCM were the personal primary obligations of the Plaintiff and not obligations of the corporation. The Plaintiff did business personally as

Phillips Construction Company at all times. He had in early 1978, upon the advice of an attorney, formed a corporation which was called Phillips Construction Company, Inc. The attorney's plan called for the Plaintiff to maintain ownership of all equipment and property and to lease them to the corporation (Tr. 132, 207). Business was intended to be carried on through the corporation, however, the corporation "had just been formed and was not fully going" and no assets were ever conveyed to the corporation (Tr. 218). The Plaintiff testified that no obligations were ever incurred through the corporation's name but that all were incurred in the Plaintiff's name personally:

THE COURT: Mr. Mortensen, I thought he testified he did business in the name of the corporation, but he owned all the property and equipment and stuff was in his name personally.

THE WITNESS: That was the intent.

THE COURT: All right. You have a bill to somebody like Riverside Accoustics. Now, was that to order material doing business as?

THE WITNESS: I did not order these materials as Phillips Construction Company, Inc. I ordered all material as Phillips Construction Company, Rodney L. Phillips, doing business as Phillips Construction Company. The people are not going to supply a corporation unless credit is established for that corporation. And all the accounts that I had prior to the sale of this business, all those accounts

were continuing accounts over the past years of doing business as Rodney L. Phillips doing business as Phillips Construction Company.

THE COURT: All right. Go ahead. (Tr. 219).

The Plaintiff testified that each obligation was his and the court accepted his testimony as true (Tr. 197-235). Exhibits 34, 36, 38, 39 and 40 all show that obligations, including taxes, were incurred personally by the Plaintiff doing business as Phillips Construction Company. A bank manager's testimony confirmed the same (Tr. 394).

The inclusion of the corporation stock in the sale was a clean up matter and purely incidental to the main sale. The provision for the sale of 100% of the stock in Phillips Construction Company was added to the Earnest Money Agreement and initialled by the Plaintiff as an afterthought (see line 7 of Exhibit 18). Both Anderson and the Plaintiff testified that a stock transfer would not properly transfer the Plaintiff's assets (Tr. 43, 170-171). No conflicting evidence or testimony was ever offered by any Defendant to show that any of the obligations were corporation rather than personal debt, or that any of the assets belonged to the corporation rather than to the Plaintiff.

While United Farm Agency alleges that there is no evidence that the Plaintiff has suffered as a result of JCM's failure to pay the obligations and, therefore, the Plaintiff has no cause of action, the evidence, from start to finish, says otherwise (Tr. 197-234; Ex. 34, 36, 38, 29, 40). The Plaintiff testified repeatedly at trial (three years after the July 1978 sale) that the obligations had never been paid and that he was being held responsible by his creditors. Perhaps the most succinct statement occurred during the

Plaintiff's testimony at this point:

Q. (By Mr. Mortensen) For the record, Mr. Phillips, on any of the matters we're going to be bringing before the Court, have you made any payments towards satisfying them?

A. No. Because of my transactions with Bob Anderson, I was forced into bankruptcy and I haven't had any -- a penny to pay any of it (Tr. 212).

Third, although the Plaintiff filed bankruptcy, no rule of law required that the trustee in bankruptcy be substituted as the Plaintiff in the action. Bankruptcy Rule 610, states:

The trustee or receiver may, with or without court approval, prosecute or enter his appearance and defend any pending action or proceeding by or against the bankrupt, or commence and prosecute any action or proceeding in behalf of the estate, before any tribunal. (Emphasis added.)

Rule 610 clearly states that a trustee's appearance is discretionary in a pending action which was instituted prior to the bankruptcy petition being filed. Without trustee intervention the debtor can continue the litigation and, if successful, the fruits of the litigation will inure to the benefit of the trustee. The trustee in turn is bound by any judgment rendered. See 9 Am Jur 2d, Bankruptcy, §157 and authorities cited therein.

Further, this issue is raised as a defense for the first time on appeal. The Defendant knew of the Plaintiff's bankruptcy prior to trial and never raised the issue even though it was brought to the court's attention during the pretrial conference held on August 4, 1980.⁵ Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 9(a)(1) states that

⁵ A transcript of the pretrial conference is to be filed pursuant to order of this Court dated May 17, 1982.

if a defendant desires to raise the issue of capacity he must do so by a specific negative averment. The Defendants never alleged a lack of capacity and thereby waived the defense, assuming, arguendo, that lack of capacity could be a defense in this matter.

Finally, even if this Court should conclude that the trustee is a necessary party plaintiff, the proper way to remedy the matter is not by a reversal, but by a simple order joining the trustee as a plaintiff pursuant to URCP 21, which states in applicable part:

Misjoinder of parties is not ground for dismissal of an action. Parties may be dropped or added by order of the court on motion of any party or its own initiative at any stage of the action and on such terms as are just. (Emphasis added.)

Pursuant to Rule 21, parties may be added even after trial has been completed. Harris-Dudley Plumbing Company v. Professional United World Travel Association (WTA), Inc., Utah, 529 P2d 586 (1979).⁶ This Court may rest assured that the Plaintiff's trustee in bankruptcy has known of this action and that he is willing upon request be joined as a party plaintiff. Up to the point of appeal the Defendants simply did not request the trustee's joinder despite the Plaintiff's offer to do so at the pretrial.

POINT II(B)

THE DEFENSE OF THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS IS UNAVAILABLE TO UNITED FARM AGENCY BECAUSE NO AFFIRMATIVE PLEADING OR OBJECTION RESERVED THE RIGHT TO RAISE THE ISSUE ON APPEAL AND FURTHER BECAUSE THE DEFENSE COULD NOT BE AVAILABLE TO UNITED FARM AGENCY IN ANY EVENT.

The affirmative defense of the Statute of Frauds is raised

⁶This Court in this very action has approved the post trial addition of a party defendant. The March 1, 1982 ruling denied a motion by the party added to quash Rule 71B service. See also Shirley v. Venaglia, 86 N.M. 721, 527 P2d 316 (1974); Smith v. Castleman, 81, N.M. 1, 462 P2d 135 (1969).

for the first time on appeal. As conceded by United Farm Agency in its brief, the defense was never plead. Since the defense was not plead it was waived under Rules 8(c) and 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Bezner v. Continental Dry Cleaners, Inc., Utah, 548 P2d 898 (1976). Additionally, the Statute of Frauds was not raised at trial. Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Evidence states that no verdict or finding shall be set aside, nor decision based thereon be reversed, by reason of the erroneous admission of evidence unless there is a timely objection which sets forth the specific ground of objection and the matter is ruled upon by the Court. No objection relating to the Statute of Frauds was ever voiced by the Defendants and ruled on by the trial court. Therefore, the Statute of Frauds cannot now be raised to attack the evidence received by the trial court.

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